IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)	No. S192176
)	
Plaintiff and Respondent,)	
v.)))	SUPREME COURT FILED
JOSE LEIVA,)	
Defendant and Appellant.)	OCT 21 2011
	_)	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
		Deputy

Second District Court of Appeal, Division Four, Case No. B214397 Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. PA035556 Honorable Barbara M. Scheper, Judge Presiding

DEFENDANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Eric R. Larson, SBN 185750 330 J Street, # 609 San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 238-5575 Larson1001@yahoo.com

Attorney for Defendant, Appellant, and Petitioner Jose Leiva

By Appointment of The Supreme Court Of California

TOPICAL

ISSUES PRESENTED

- "(1) Did the trial court have jurisdiction to revoke defendant's probation?"
- "(2) Did sufficient evidence support the trial court's finding that defendant either failed to report to his probation officer or reentered the country illegally?"
 - "(3) Did the trial court's finding rely upon admissible evidence?"

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Defendant adopts the Factual and Procedural Background set forth in the Court of Appeal's Opinion, and notes that it accurately, concisely, and comprehensively sets forth the applicable factual and procedural background of this case. (Slip Opn. pp. 2-4.)

ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO REVOKE DEFENDANT'S PROBATION BASED ON ACTS COMMITTED IN 2007 AND 2009

The trial court lacked jurisdiction to revoke defendant's probation because there was no evidence, and the trial court did not purport to find, that defendant committed a willful violation of his probation during the original three-year probationary term imposed by the court.

On April 11, 2000, after pleading guilty to three counts of burglary of a vehicle, defendant was placed on probation for three years on terms and conditions that he serve 365 days in jail, report to his probation officer within one business day of his release from custody, not reenter the country illegally if deported, report to the probation officer within 24 hours of his return to the country and present documentation proving that he was in the United States legally, and pay restitution to all victims. (Slip Opn. p. 2.) On September 21,

2001, defendant's probation was summarily revoked, and a bench warrant was issued for his arrest, because defendant had not reported to his probation officer upon his release from custody and had not made his restitution payments. (Slip Opn. p. 2.)

In November of 2008, defendant appeared in court again after being arrested on the outstanding warrant as a result of a traffic stop. (Slip Opn. pp. 2-3.) It was subsequently determined that defendant had been deported to El Salvador following his release from custody in 2001, and remained there until he returned to the United States in 2007. (Slip Opn. p. 3.)

At a formal probation revocation hearing conducted on February 13, 2009, the trial court did not find that defendant had willfully violated any of the terms of his probation prior to April 10, 2003, the date probation naturally would have expired under the original three-year term, but nevertheless found defendant in violation of his 2000 probation for reentering the United States in February of 2007 and not reporting to the probation department within 24 hours of that reentry. (Slip. Opn. p. 3; 2 R.T. 1 pp. 2-4.) On that same date, the

¹ The three Reporter's Transcripts in this case are not numbered by volume. For purposes of clarity, defendant will refer to them chronologically as volumes 1, 2, and 3.

court reinstated probation on the same terms and conditions with additional credit for time served in custody. (Slip Opn. p. 3; 1 R.T. p. 4.)

Defendant was again deported after his release from custody in February of 2009, and on June 9, 2009, another warrant was issued for his arrest for failing to report to his probation officer after his release from custody in 2009. (Slip Opn. p. 3; 2 C.T.² pp. 3-4.) On September 17, 2009, defendant appeared in court again after returning to the United States and being arrested on the outstanding warrant. (Slip Opn. p. 3; 2 C.T. p. 5.) On October 9, 2009, another formal probation violation hearing was held, and the court found defendant in violation of the terms of his 2000 probation for reentering the country illegally between 2005 and 2009. (Slip Opn. p. 4; 3 R.T. p. B-42.) On November 9, 2009, the court sentenced defendant to serve two years in prison. (Slip Opn. p. 4; 3 R.T. pp. C-1-C-3.)

Based on the above procedural history, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to find defendant in violation of his 2000 probation on either February 13, 2009 or October 9, 2009, because there was no evidence that

² The two Clerk's Transcripts in this case are also not numbered by volume. For purposes of clarity, defendant will also refer to them chronologically as volumes 1 and 2.

defendant had committed a willful violation of his probation within the initial three-year term of probation.

As held by the Court of Appeal, in order to find a defendant in violation of probation, the violation must be "willful." (*People v. Galvan* (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 978, 982.) Thus, when a defendant is deported immediately upon his release from custody, it is not a willful violation of probation to fail to report to a probation officer within 24 hours of his release because it is impossible to do so due to the fact that the federal government deported him. (*Id.* at p. 983; see also *People v. Sanchez* (1987) 190 Cal.App.3d 224, 231 ["Obviously, a convicted illegal alien felon, upon deportation, would be unable to comply with any terms and conditions of probation beyond the serving of any period of local incarceration imposed."].)

In the case at bar, defendant was deported upon his release from local custody in 2001. (Slip Opn. p. 3.) Thus, defendant's failure to report to the probation officer after his release from custody was not a willful violation of his probation. (*People v. Galvan, supra,* 155 Cal.App.4th at p. 982.) Moreover, between the April 11, 2000 grant of probation and the original three-year period of probation ending on April 10, 2003, there was no evidence that defendant committed any other crime or willfully violated any of the other terms of his probation. (See also 1 R.T. p. B-1 [defendant was not

arrested for any other offenses between the time he was placed on probation in 2000 and arrested on the bench warrant in 2008].) Under these circumstances, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to find defendant in violation of his probation based on different acts that occurred in 2007 and 2009.

The Court of Appeal in *Tapia* previously reached this conclusion based on facts that are substantively identical to those in the case at bar. (*People v. Tapia* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 738.) In *Tapia*, the defendant pleaded guilty in July of 1996 to one count of robbery, and was placed on probation for three years. (*Id.* at pp. 739-740.) As conditions of his probation, he was ordered to serve one year in jail, report to the probation department within 24 hours of his release from custody, not reenter the country illegally, and if he did return, report to the probation officer within 24 hours of his return with documentation that he was in the country legally. (*Id.* at p. 740.)

Upon his release from custody in late 1996, defendant Tapia was deported to Mexico. In March of 2007, the trial court was informed that the defendant had failed to report to the probation department, his probation was summarily revoked, and a bench warrant was issued. (*People v. Tapia, supra,* 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 740.) The defendant was subsequently arrested in California on the warrant in September of 2000, and a probation violation hearing was held in November of 2000. (*Ibid.*) The defendant admitted that

he did not report to his probation officer when he returned to the United States in September of 2000, and admitted that upon his reentry in 2000 he did not show proof to his probation officer that he was in the United States legally. (*Ibid.*) Based on the defendant's admissions, the trial court found a violation, revoked probation, and then reinstated probation and extended it to March 21, 2003. (*Ibid.*)

Based on the above, the Court of Appeal in *Tapia* unanimously held that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to extend the defendant's term of probation beyond July of 1999, and the trial court's order finding him in violation for an act committed after that date was void. (*People v. Tapia, supra,* 91 Cal.App.4th at pp. 740-742.)

The Court reasoned:

"Although Tapia's probation was summarily revoked based upon his failure to report to his probation officer when he was released from custody in late 1996, that is not the violation he admitted at the formal probation revocation hearing. All he 'admitted' was that he did not report to the probation department when he returned to the United States in September 2000, and that he did not at that time present proof that his reentry was legal. *He did not admit a failure to report in 1996...*. Since no evidence was presented, the basis for the summary revocation — a claim that Tapia had

failed to report to the probation department in 1996 — was not proved. Since that violation was not proved, the term of probation expired in July 1999 — before Tapia reentered the United States. Since his probation had expired by the time he did reenter in September 2000, the trial court had no jurisdiction to extend the period of probation." (*People v. Tapia, supra,* 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 740, emphasis in original.)

In addition, the Court of Appeal rejected the Attorney General's argument that, pursuant to Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a), the summary revocation of the defendant's probation for failing to report to his probation officer after his release from custody and deportation in 1996 tolled the period of the defendant's probation indefinitely. (*People v. Tapia, supra,* 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 741-742.)

In rejecting this argument, the Court reasoned:

"While the summary revocation of probation does suspend the running of the probationary period so that the court retains jurisdiction to determine at a formal revocation hearing whether there has, in fact, been a violation, an unproved violation cannot support the conclusion that, after the date on which probation expired under its original terms, a violation occurred upon Tapia's failure to report to the probation department when he later returned to the United States. The rules cited by the Attorney General

simply do not apply where, as here, the People have failed to prove that a violation occurred *during the term of probation*. Thus, while we agree that the period is tolled by summary revocation, and that the period of tolling can be tacked onto the probationary period if probation is reinstated, we do not agree that these rules apply where, as here, there is no proof or admission of a violation during the period of probation.

"As we explained in People v. Hawkins (1975) 44 Cal.App.3d 958, 966, the trial court has 'the power and duty to summarily revoke ... probation on the information supplied by the probation officer and to issue a bench warrant as the only practical and expeditious way to bring the defendant swiftly before the court, to give him notice of the claimed violations and to afford him a hearing.' (Italics added.) But when it comes to the tolling contemplated by Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a), and People v. DePaul [1982] 137 Cal.App.3d [409], 415, it is clear that a summary revocation of probation suspends the running of the probation period and permits extension of the term of probation if, and only if, probation is reinstated based upon a violation that occurred during the unextended period of probation. (See People v. Lewis (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 1949, 1955 [summary revocation is simply a device by which the defendant may be brought before the court and jurisdiction retained before formal revocation proceedings commence; if probation is restored, there has, in effect, been no revocation at all].)

"Just as the restoration of probation erases the summary revocation, so too does the court's failure to find a violation within the period of probation. Put another way, the jurisdiction retained by the court is to decide *whether* there has been a violation during the period of probation and, if so, *whether* to reinstate or terminate probation. When the court finds there has been no violation during the period of probation, there is no need for further jurisdiction. And where, as here, the term of probation has expired, the defendant is also entitled to an order discharging him from probation. (*People v. Lewis, supra*, 7 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1955-1956.)

"It follows that Tapia's probation expired in July 1999, that the order finding him in violation is void, and that he is entitled to an order discharging him from probation." (*People v. Tapia, supra,* 91 Cal.App.4th at pp. 741-742, all emphasis in original.)

The majority of the Court of Appeal in the case at bar disagreed with the *Tapia* decision, and held that a summary revocation of probation does indefinitely toll the period of probation such that a defendant can be found in violation of probation based solely on an act that was committed years after probation would have otherwise expired. (Slip Opn. pp. 5-10.) Presiding Justice Epstein filed a dissent, disagreeing with the majority in the case at bar and agreeing with the unanimous panel in *Tapia*. (Dis. Slip Opn. pp. 1-7.)

The panel in *Tapia* and Presiding Justice Epstein have the better of the argument.

The majority opinion in the case at bar relies heavily on the last sentence of Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a),³ which provides that "[t]he revocation, summary or otherwise, shall serve to toll the running of the

³ In its entirety, Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a), provides:

[&]quot;At any time during the probationary period of a person released on probation under the care of a probation officer pursuant to this chapter, or of a person released on conditional sentence or summary probation not under the care of a probation officer, if any probation officer or peace officer has probable cause to believe that the probationer is violating any term or condition of his or her probation or conditional sentence, the officer may, without warrant or other process and at any time until the final disposition of the case, rearrest the person and bring him or her before the court or the court may, in its discretion, issue a warrant for his or her rearrest. Upon such rearrest, or upon the issuance of a warrant for rearrest the court may revoke and terminate such probation if the interests of justice so require and the court, in its judgment, has reason to believe from the report of the probation officer or otherwise that the person has violated any of the conditions of his or her probation, has become abandoned to improper associates or a vicious life, or has subsequently committed other offenses, regardless whether he or she has been prosecuted for such offenses. However, probation shall not be revoked for failure of a person to make restitution pursuant to Section 1203.04 as a condition of probation unless the court determines that the defendant has willfully failed to pay and has the ability to pay. Restitution shall be consistent with a person's ability to pay. The revocation, summary or otherwise, shall serve to toll the running of the probationary period." (Pen. Code § 1203.2, subd. (a).)

probationary period," and which was added by the Legislature in 1977. (Stats. 1977, c. 358, § 1, p. 1330.) However, as observed by Justice Epstein in dissent, the Legislature's purpose in enacting this provision was not to extend the probationary period indefinitely so that probation could be revoked for conduct occurring after the conclusion of the original probationary period. (Dis. Slip Opn. pp. 4-6.)

Instead, as provided in the legislative materials underlying the current statute, section 1203.2 was amended in 1977 in the wake of the summary revocation, followed by a formal hearing, procedure for revocation of probation recognized in *Morrissey v. Brewer* (1972) 408 U.S. 471, 480 [92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484] and *People v. Vickers* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 451, 458. (Assem. Com. On Criminal Justice, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 426 (1977-1978 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 19, 1977.) Moreover, the proponents of the bill indicated the "tolling' language is necessary" to address a problem which could arise if a revocation "decision is reversed on appeal." (*Ibid.*) The Assembly Committee observed that "without the tolling language, the period may have expired and the court would be powerless to act in conducting a new probation revocation hearing." (*Ibid.*)

Thus, as recognized in *Tapia*, the dissent herein, and the legislative materials underlying the enactment of the statutory provision, the tolling

provision was added so that the trial court would not lose jurisdiction over a violation committed during the probationary period for which probation was summarily revoked, but in which the final, formal revocation hearing on the alleged violation was not conducted until after the original probationary period has expired. (See Assem. Com. On Criminal Justice, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 426 (1977-1978 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 19, 1977.) This is a fairly unremarkable and uncontroversial proposition, and as recognized in the Enrolled Bill Report submitted to the Governor by the Secretary of Legal Affairs, the bill is "basically a cleanup measure" that was unopposed by the Public Defender. (Governor's Ch. Bill File, Ch. 358 (SB 426) 1977.)

The majority's quite remarkable interpretation of the above statutory tolling provision to instead provide that a probationer must comply with all of the terms and conditions of his probation for a period of decades or even the rest of his or her life, simply upon the issuance of a summary revocation of probation, even a wrongful summary revocation, is inconsistent with the legislative intent behind the provision, logic, and fundamental fairness. (See *In re J.W.* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 200, 210 [a statute should be interpreted to avoid absurd results that the Legislature could not have intended].) This is particularly true in the case at bar in which the basis for the summary revocation ultimately was not proven even to be a violation.

In addition, while legislative inaction is not necessarily conclusive, the fact that the Legislature has not sought to amend the statute at any time over the last 10 years in response to the *Tapia* decision implicitly indicates the Legislature's approval of *Tapia*'s interpretation of the relevant statute and further supports defendant's argument. (See *People v. Williams* (2006) 26 Cal.4th 779, 789-790 [the longevity of a judicial interpretation of a statute without legislative action to overrule that interpretation is not necessarily conclusive, but tends to indicate legislative acquiescence in the judicial interpretation].)

In reaching its conclusion to the contrary, the majority herein also relied upon the Court of Appeal's decision in *People v. Lewis, supra,* 7 Cal.App.4th 1949. (Slip Opn. pp. 8-9.) However, the majority's reliance on *Lewis* is misplaced. The "single issue" decided in that case was that a defendant must continue to comply with the conditions of his probation during the time between a formal finding of violation of probation and his sentencing on the violation. (*People v. Lewis, supra,* 7 Cal.App.4th at p. 1951.) In addition, the summary revocation, formal finding of a violation, and sentencing on the violation in *Lewis* all occurred within the original two-year probationary period. (*Id.* at pp. 1951-1952.) Thus, *Lewis* simply did not consider the issue herein.

Finally, the majority determined that its construction of the statute was harmonious with its legislative purpose, because otherwise a "probationer, such as defendant, who is deported, returns to this country illegally and is not caught until after the original term of probation expires, could potentially escape from ever having to comply with his or her probationary conditions." (Slip Opn. p. 10.) Defendant respectfully maintains this analysis is flawed for several reasons.

First, "[t]he courts have long recognized that the decision whether to grant probation to a deportable alien presents special issues." (*People v. Espinoza* (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 1069, 1074.) For example, the Court of Appeal has held that "a defendant's status as an illegal alien is highly relevant to the issue of whether to grant probation because it bears directly on whether the defendant can comply with the terms of probation." (*People v. Sanchez, supra,* 190 Cal.App.3d at pp. 230-231.) In this case, the court chose to grant probation to defendant. The fact that defendant was predictably deported after serving his jail sentence, and therefore could not report to his probation officer after his release, should not be regarded as either a reward or a basis to impose a lifetime requirement of probation. Indeed, given the option, many, if not the vast majority, of aliens would likely prefer to remain in this country

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