## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSE LEIVA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S192176

SUPREME COURT FILED

DEC 21 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Case No. B214397
San Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. BA03556
Honorable Barbara M. Scheper, Judge

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
LANCE E. WINTERS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
KENNETH C. BYRNE
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
DAVID C. COOK
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 172866

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Appellant challenges the revocation of his probation on February 13, 2009, and on October 9, 2009.<sup>5</sup> Respondent submits that the trial court properly revoked appellant's probation on both occasions.

First, the trial court had jurisdiction to find appellant in violation of probation for conduct that occurred after the period of probation, as it was initially imposed, from April 11, 2000, to April 11, 2003. Pursuant to Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a), the running of the probation term was tolled from September 21, 2001, when the trial court summarily revoked appellant's probation, until February 13, 2009, when the trial court formally revoked appellant's probation. The tolling provision of Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a) is unambiguous. Consequently, under this Court's well settled rules of statutory construction, it is inappropriate to examine the legislative history of the tolling provision to glean whether tolling was unwarranted in this case. In any event, the legislative history for this section does not call into question the application of the plain meaning of the statute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Appellant's only challenge to the probation revocation that occurred on October 9, 2009, is that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to find a violation of the terms and conditions of probation for conduct that occurred after the period of probation, as initially imposed, expired. (Defendant's Opening Brief On The Merits [hereinafter "DOBM"] 32.)

Second, sufficient evidence supports the trial court's finding on February 13, 2009, that appellant willfully violated the terms and conditions of his probation by willfully failing to report to his probation officer upon his return to the United States in 2007, following his deportation. Appellant, by his own admission, reentered the United States in 2007, and had not reported to his probation officer as of the time of his arrest on November 7, 2008, for driving while using a cell phone. No evidence was presented that appellant was being prevented from reporting to his probation officer during that time. Appellant argues that a reasonable person would not have believed reporting to the probation officer was required following expiration of the initial probation term. Making such an inference, however, would run afoul of the substantial evidence test because it would fail to construe the evidence in the light most favorable to the trial court's judgment. The prosecution does not have a burden to satisfy a "reasonable belief" requirement. Thus, the evidence was sufficient to establish that appellant's failure to report to his probation officer was willful.

Third, appellant forfeited any claims of error regarding admission of evidence at the probation violation hearing that occurred on February 13, 2009. Appellant expressly conceded that the trial court could rely on the supplemental probation report, in which was appellant's admission to a probation officer that he reentered the United States in 2007. Even if not forfeited, appellant has failed to demonstrate that any of the rights to which he is entitled during a probation violation hearing were violated. Although appellant's statement in the supplemental probation report was hearsay, its

admission was proper due to the reliability of probation report and because the statement in it clearly satisfied the hearsay exception for admission of a party opponent. Appellant was given the opportunity to confront the evidence against him at the hearing conducted on February 13, 2009, but chose not to do so. There also was little, if anything, that would have been gained from the testimony of the probation officer to whom appellant gave the statement. Accordingly, the trial court properly admitted the supplemental probation report into evidence, and properly relied upon the report in finding that appellant willfully failed to report to his probation officer.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO FIND APPELLANT IN VIOLATION OF PROBATION AT THE FEBRUARY 13, 2009 PROBATION REVOCATION HEARING AND AT THE OCTOBER 9, 2009 PROBATION REVOCATION HEARING

The first issue presented is whether the trial court lacked jurisdiction to revoke appellant's probation at the February 13, 2009 hearing and the October 9, 2009 hearing because there was insufficient evidence appellant had violated a term of probation during the probation period. Appellant contends that although Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a), specifically states that "[t]he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In its entirety, Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a) states:

At any time during the probationary period of a person released on probation under the care of a probation officer pursuant to this chapter, or of a person released on conditional sentence or summary probation not under the care of a probation officer, if any probation officer or peace officer has probable cause to believe that the probationer is violating any (continued...)

revocation [of probation], summary or otherwise, shall serve to toll the running of the probationary period," the legislative history underlying this subsection requires a finding of tolling only if a probation violation during the initially imposed term is found. (DOBM 2-17.) Appellant contends that his position is supported by the "better" argument of the dissent below. (DOBM 11; see Opn. at pp. 14-20 (dis. opn. of Epstein, P.J.) Respondent disagrees because unambiguous statutory language demonstrates a clear legislative intent that summary revocation tolls the probationary period for all purposes.

term or condition of his or her probation or conditional sentence, the officer may, without warrant or other process and at any time until the final disposition of the case, rearrest the person and bring him or her before the court or the court may, in its discretion, issue a warrant for his or her rearrest. Upon such rearrest, or upon the issuance of a warrant for rearrest the court may revoke and terminate such probation if the interests of justice so require and the court, in its judgment, has reason to believe from the report of the probation officer or otherwise that the person has violated any of the conditions of his or her probation, has become abandoned to improper associates or a vicious life, or has subsequently committed other offenses, regardless whether he or she has been prosecuted for such offenses. However, probation shall not be revoked for failure of a person to make restitution pursuant to Section 1203.04 as a condition of probation unless the court determines that the defendant has willfully failed to pay and has the ability to pay. Restitution shall be consistent with a person's ability to pay. The revocation, summary or otherwise, shall serve to toll the running of the probationary period. (Emphasis added.)

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

This issue regarding the trial court's jurisdiction involves a straightforward construction of Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a), which provides that "[t]he revocation [of probation], summary or otherwise, shall serve to toll the running of the probationary period." It is well settled that "[i]f the plain, commonsense meaning of a statute's words is unambiguous, the plain meaning controls." (Caitlin v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 300, 304, quoting *People v. King* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 617, 622.) In construing a statute, the reviewing court seeks to determine and give effect to the intent of the legislature. (Caitlin v. Superior Court, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 304.) The reviewing court first examines the words of the statute "because the statutory language is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (*Ibid.*, quoting *People v.* King, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 622.) "The words of the statute should be given their ordinary and usual meaning and should be construed in their statutory context." (Ibid., quoting People v. King, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 622.)

Here, Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a) is unambiguous. It states that "[t]he revocation [of probation], summary or otherwise, shall serve to toll the running of the probationary period." Upon the summary revocation of appellant's probation on September 21, 2001, the "running of the probationary period" was tolled. (1CT 24.) Accordingly, appellant's failure to report to his probation officer in 2007, following his return to the United States, and his illegal re-entry to the United States following his deportation, occurred within the period of probation, as tolled.

The Court of Appeal followed these well settled principles in construing the meaning of Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a). (Opn. at p. 8.) The court found that "[i]n our view, the language of the tolling provision is clear. It states that a revocation of probation stops the running of the probationary period – nothing more, nothing less." (*Ibid.*) The court found support for its finding in *People v. DePaul* (1982) 137 Cal.App.3d 409. (Opn. at p. 6.)

In *DePaul*, the trial court placed the defendant on probation for two years starting on December 28, 1978. On August 14, 1980, probation was summarily revoked, and then reinstated on November 13, 1980, on the same terms and conditions. On January 16, 1981, the prosecution filed a petition to revoke the defendant's probation, alleging that he committed a new criminal offense on December 30, 1980. Probation was summarily revoked on the day the petition was filed. The defendant argued that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to revoke his probation because his initially imposed period of probation expired on December 28, 1980. (*People v. DePaul, supra*, 137 Cal.App.3d at p. 411.)

The *DePaul* court undertook an exhaustive review of probation cases and found that the 1977 amendments to Penal Code section 1203.2 changed the previous rule, which allowed the initial probationary period to expire even though a summary revocation had occurred. (*People v. DePaul, supra*, 137 Cal.App.3d at pp. 413-414.) Following its review, the court found that the tolling provision of Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a) was unambiguous. Due to the summary revocation that occurred on August 14, 1980, the running of the probationary period was tolled until November 13,

1980, when probation was reinstated. Consequently, the expiration date of the defendant's probation was extended due to the tolling. (*Id.* at p. 415 ["The interpretation we adopt is that a revocation of probation suspends the running of the probationary period and if probation is reinstated the period of revocation cannot be counted in calculating the expiration date"].) The court further held that "[i]f a trial court wishes to void or cancel the tolling effect of the revocation it must do so expressly. If the record is silent, however, as it is here, then the statutory tolling provision must be given effect." (*Ibid.*, footnote omitted.)

The Court of Appeal also soundly rejected the decision in *People v. Tapia* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 738. (Opn. at pp. 5-8.) In *Tapia*, as in the present case, the only probation violation found by the trial court occurred outside the initially imposed period of probation. (*People v. Tapia*, *supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at pp. 739-742.). In addition, both in *Tapia* and the present case, probation was summarily revoked. (*Ibid.*) In *Tapia*, the court held that summary revocation tolled the probation period only to allow the trial court the opportunity to determine if a probation violation occurred during the initially imposed period of probation. (*Id.* at pp. 740-742.) Because no probation violation was found to have occurred during the initially imposed period of probation, the court in *Tapia* held that the trial court was without jurisdiction to have imposed probation. (*Id.* at pp. 741-742.)

The Court of Appeal correctly found that *Tapia* was wrongly decided because the tolling provision of Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a) was unambiguous, and because the holding improperly

rewrote the statute to "add[] language to the statute that is simply not there." (Opn. at p. 7.) The court aptly reasoned that the Legislature court have, but declined to, insert this language into the statute:

If the *Tapia* panel is correct, the tolling provision should read: The revocation, summary or otherwise, shall serve to toll the running of the probationary period, *if, and only if, it is proven that the probationer violated the terms of his or her probation during the period of the original probationary term. If the Legislature intended to restrict the application of the tolling provision to violations that occurred during the original probationary term, it knows how to use language clearly expressing that intent. (See <i>People v. Jackson* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 129, 169, 28 Cal.Rptr.3d 136.)

(Opn. at pp. 7-8, fn. omitted, emphasis in original.)

Until *Tapia*, courts had consistently held that a summary revocation of probation pursuant to Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a) tolls the defendant's probationary term and grants the court continued jurisdiction over the defendant until he is brought before the court for a violation hearing. "It has always been clear also that an order revoking probation, made during the probationary period, preserves the court's jurisdiction over the defendant." (*People v. DePaul, supra*, 137 Cal.App.3d at p. 412.) The use of summary revocation to preserve jurisdiction is proper, even if the formal revocation and sentencing all occur after the initial period of probation has been completed. (*People v. Vickers* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 451, 460-461; *People v. Journey* (1972) 58 Cal.App.3d 24, 27; *People v. Ham* (1975) 44 Cal.App.3d 288, 293-294; *People v. Youngs* (1972) 23 Cal.App.3d 180, 185, overruled on other grounds in *People v. Vickers*, *supra*, 8 Cal.3d at p. 453, fn. 2; see also *In re Winn* (1975) 13 Cal.3d

694, 699 [dealing with parole revocation, but following *People v*. *Vickers* in holding that summary revocation is a permissible way of preserving jurisdiction];.)

Courts have also consistently recognized that the trial courts have broad powers over probationers. (*People v. Banks* (1959) 53 Cal.2d 370, 384 ["The powers of the court, over the defendant and the cause, when it retains jurisdiction a provided by Penal Code, section 1203 through 1203.4, 1207, 1213, and 1215, are well nigh plenary in character . . ."]; *People v. Lewis* (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 1949, 1954). These powers include the ability to enforce the conditions of probation even during the tolling period pursuant to summary revocation. (*People v. Lewis, supra*, 7 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1954-1955.)

Similarly, the *Tapia* court, on the other hand, held that the jurisdiction granted by the tolling mechanism of Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a) is limited, and that the trial court only has jurisdiction to find violations that occur during the initial probationary term. (*People v. Tapia*, *supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 741.) Citing *People v. Hawkins* (1975) 44 Cal.App.3d 958, 966, the *Tapia* court correctly pointed out that the summary revocation proceeding is designed to give courts a way to bring violating probationers before the court to determine the truth of the alleged violations. (*People v. Tapia*, *supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 741.) *Hawkins*, however, merely held that the summary revocation proceeding comports with the standards of due process set out by the United States Supreme Court. (*People v. Hawkins*, *supra*, 44 Cal.App.3d at pp. 966-967.) *Hawkins* did not address the tolling feature of summary revocation, and

certainly did not state that the trial court was only given limited jurisdiction due to the tolling.

The Tapia court also cited People v. Lewis, supra, 7 Cal.App.4th 1949, for the correct proposition that summary revocation is a device by which violating defendants are brought before the court. (People v. Tapia, supra, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 741.) But nothing in Lewis states that the tolling contemplated by Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (a) is limited only to finding violations during the original probationary period. In fact, the decision confirms that the terms and conditions of probation are enforceable during the tolling period. (People v. Lewis, supra, 7 Cal.App.4th at p. 1955.) Additionally, Lewis reinforces that the trial court has broad authority over defendants who willfully accept probation as an alternative to incarceration. "The powers of the court, when the defendant is granted probation are almost absolute in character." (Id. at p. 1954.) Consequently, nothing in Lewis narrows the jurisdiction of the courts over probationers during the tolling period after a summary revocation.

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